THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. C. Nicholson, Jr, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002621

RECEIVED

MAY 06 2019

SC Court of Appeals

JOHN GILBERT SINGLETARY

APPELLANT,

V.

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL D. MCMULLEN
1720 Main Street, Suite 301
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Phone: 803-252-4433
S.C. Bar # 65483
lawyerinsc@aol.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING A MUNICIPAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, WHERE THE MUNICIPAL COURT HAD GIVEN APPELLANT NO PROPER NOTICE OF THE INITIAL TRIAL, TRIED HIM IN HIS ABSENCE (TREATING IT AS A BOND FORFEITURE) WITHOUT MAKING FINDINGS AS TO NOTICE OR HEARING TESTIMONY, GAVE APPELLANT NO NOTIFICATION OF THE DISPOSITION, REFUSED TO CONDUCT A HEARING ON THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, RULING IT LACKED JURISDICTION, AND PROVIDED THE CIRCUIT COURT AN INADEQUATE RETURN?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, John Gilbert Singletary, was arrested on January 26, 2010, for Solicitation of Prostitution under a North Charleston Municipal Ordinance. He appeared in court on the date for trial listed on the ticket. (1-Uniform Traffic Ticket # 70055 FB, 1-26-10). The Court continued the case. (2-NCMC Preliminary Docket, 2-23-10).¹ Eventually, on May 26, 2017, Mr. Singletary went to the Municipal Court and received a copy of the Uniform Traffic Ticket in lieu of any other formal record of the disposition of his charges. (1-UJT #70055FB, 1-26-10). The Clerk of Court wrote the date, initialed it, and stamped it in the bottom right corner of the ticket. Then, within five days, on May 31, 2017, Mr. Singletary filed his Motion for New Trial with the Municipal Court. That Court claimed it lacked jurisdiction to hear Mr. Singletary's Motion, and refused to conduct a hearing. This was communicated by letter dated June 15, 2017 from the Chief Municipal Court Judge to former counsel for Mr. Singletary, (8-Judge Coleman's letter, 6-15-17). Former counsel received it on June 19, 2017, and filed a Notice of Appeal with the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County four days later, on June 23, 2017. (9-Notice of Appeal, p. 3, 6-23-17).

The Honorable J. C. Nicholson conducted a hearing on the Appeal on November 13, 2017. (7-Transcript, 11-13-17). On December 14, 2017, Judge Nicholson filed a Form 4, Judgement in a Civil Case, with a statement of Judgement by the Court: "Court heard appeal on November 13, 2017 and respectfully denied the appeal." (10-Form 4, 12-14-17).

Former counsel filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal on December 27, 2017. (11-Notice, 12-27-17). Many delays occurred and former counsel was given numerous opportunities to file pleadings. At some point thereafter, he was suspended indefinitely from the practice of law for reasons unknown to current counsel. Mr. Singletary hired the undersigned, current counsel for Appellant, who then filed a Motion for Leave to File an Amended Initial Brief on February 22, 2019. (12-Motion, 2-22-19). The Court of Appeals granted the Motion on April 4, 2019, and gave Appellant thirty (30) days within which to file the Amended Initial Brief and proposed Record on Appeal and to serve those on Respondent. (13-Order of Court of Appeals, 4-4-19).

¹ Thereafter, he never received notice--written or otherwise--as to when he should appear for trial. This fact may be in dispute; therefore, its further discussion more properly will be placed in the "Argument" section of this brief.

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING A MUNICIPAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE MUNICIPAL COURT HAD NOT GIVEN APPELLANT PROPER NOTICE OF THE INITIAL TRIAL, TRIED HIM IN HIS ABSENCE (TREATING IT AS A BOND FORFEITURE) WITHOUT MAKING FINDINGS AS TO NOTICE OR HEARING TESTIMONY, GAVE APPELLANT NO NOTIFICATION OF THE DISPOSITION, REFUSED TO CONDUCT A HEARING ON THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, RULING IT LACKED JURISDICTION, AND PROVIDED THE CIRCUIT COURT AN INADEQUATE RETURN.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review only errors of law, and it is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless the findings are clearly erroneous. State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 135, 731 S.E.2d 604, 609 (Ct.App.2012). This court simply determines whether the trial court's factual findings are supported by any evidence. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). Appellate courts review questions of law de novo. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 552, 732 S.E.2d 861, 863 (2012). State v. Blakely, 402 S.C. 650, 742 S.E.2d 29 (S.C. App., 2013).

LACK OF PROPER NOTICE OF THE MUNICIPAL COURT TRIAL

John Singletary was arrested on January 26, 2010, by North Charleston Police using Uniform Traffic Ticket (Ticket # 70055FB), charging him with "Solicitation of Prostitution," under the North Charleston Municipal Code Section 13-22. Police took him to jail, where his brother posted his cash bond of \$470.00, and Mr. Singletary was released by the jail later that day without a bond hearing.²

Acting *pro se*, on January 28, 2018, he mailed a request for discovery to the names listed as the arresting officer(s) on the ticket, "Glenn/Willie" citing Rule 5 of the Rules of Criminal Procedure. He never received a response to that request. That correspondence seems not to have

² There is nothing in the record showing a bond hearing was held. Given the Municipal Court's refusal to conduct a hearing, Appellant lacks any means to document a hearing that did not occur. Rather, Appellant would assert no bond form has been or can be produced to show that Mr. Singletary received notice that, should he fail to appear for trial, the trial may go forward in his absence.

been made part of the Municipal Court's records; however, the Circuit Court seems to have received a copy of it. (7-Transcript 11-13-17, p. 16, line 4 through p. 20, line 13).

The ticket summoned him to appear before the Municipal Court of North Charleston on February 23, 2010. He did. That day the Court told him his trial had been continued, it was to be rescheduled, and he would be notified when to appear for trial.³

UNRELIABLE MUNICIPAL COURT RECORDS

The available Municipal Court records which should document when the new date for trial was set, whether the Defendant/Appellant was notified of it, and, if so, how he was notified make difficult, if not impossible, to determine precisely what efforts were made to notify the Defendant/Appellant as to when his trial would be heard.

A critical look at the Dockets and the "Case History," (6-NCMC Case History, Filed date 1-31-10, Print date 10-13-15), reveals the Municipal Court's record keeping, upon which Respondent relies to show notice was given Mr. Singletary by telephone are demonstrably and patently unreliable. For example, the records show five entries dealing with bond hearing, when in fact no bond hearing was ever held. (*See*, footnote 2.)

Page two of the Case History documents that on 1-26-2010 at 12:00 am Bond was set in the amount of \$470.00 by Singletary, John Gilbert; that on 1-27-2010 at 9:00 am there was a Bond Hearing; that on 1-31-2010 at 9:00 am "guthris recorded the following Case Action Note: BONDED OUT;" that on 2-3-2010 at 12:00 am "Bond was posted in the amount of \$470 by Sheldon Morris Singletary;" and that on 2-3-2010 at 7:43 pm "Received payment of \$470.00 from Sheldon Morris Singletary for John Gilbert Singletary. Printed receipt #183859." (Id. at p. 2.)

Other relevant records kept by the Municipal Court are vague, if not inaccurate. The entries seem to show Mr. Singletary may have been telephoned to advise him of the rescheduled trial dates; however, the record lacks documentation as to who may have made such calls, what number may have been called, whether the caller spoke with anyone, what the caller may have said, etc. (2-Preliminary Docket, 2-23-10; 3-Preliminary Docket, 3-9-10; 4- Preliminary Docket, 4-14-10; 5-Preliminary Docket, 5-4-10).

³ It is disputed who requested the continuance. However, this would seem to be irrelevant. The Court continued the case on the originally scheduled date for trial without announcing a new date for the trial.

Mr. Singletary cites the fact that he mailed a request under Rule 5 to the arresting officer listed on the ticket as evidence he had no intention of forfeiting bond.⁴ That correspondence seems not to have been made part of the Municipal Court's records; however, the Circuit Court seems to have received a copy of it. (7-Transcript 11-13-17, p. 16, line 4 through p. 20, line 13).

Given these obvious inconsistencies, any reliance by the trial court upon these records alone to determine that Mr. Gilbert had received notice of his trial would seem imprudent. Mr. Singletary should be granted a new trial.

NO NOTICE OF THE MUNICIPAL COURT DISPOSITION

The Court never notified Mr. Singletary of the disposition of his case. His first indication that his case had been decided against him came, not from the North Charleston Municipal Court, but through media reports in 2015 that the City went "on record" stating Mr. Singletary had been convicted or tried in his absence, or that he had missed court and forfeited his bond, tantamount to a conviction. Respondent likely will contend these media reports constitute "notice" to Mr. Singletary. Mr. Singletary contends that media reports do not constitute proper notice.

Nevertheless, in October of 2015, when he heard through news reports that the Court may have tried him in his absence--or the Court may have considered his bond forfeited without a trial-- he immediately began requesting the Court provide him the written records relevant to his case, specifically and especially the disposition sheet or record of the judgement of the Court.⁵ He has still never received that.

⁴ Mr. Singletary is at a disadvantage here. He contends he never received a phone call or a message from the Court, that the Court did not even have his telephone number, and that he would have been in court had he been notified. However, because the Municipal Court refused to conduct a hearing on the Motion for New Trial, these contentions are not part of any official record. Still, the Preliminary Dockets and the Case History list no telephone number at which to contact Mr. Singletary.

⁵ The timing here is revealing. It was in 2015, just after Mr. Singletary announced his candidacy for Mayor of North Charleston against the incumbent, who had held the office since 1993, that the media somehow received information of which Mr. Singletary had never been notified by the Municipal Court--that he had been found guilty or his bond forfeited in his absence. Between October 13 and October 16, 2015, local news media published stories referencing the 2010 arrest, citing various sources including "public records," and giving differing facts regarding this subject.

The Court seems to have had records to provide the media, but the Court refused, until May 26, 2017, to give Mr. Singletary anything in writing to document its handling of his criminal case, telling him the case was so old that the Court had not retained those documents.

Eventually, Mr. Singletary went to the Municipal Court Clerk's Office to request a written disposition, something to formally notify him as to what happened to his case in that court, something he could appeal. He had been asking for this since 2015 by email, telephone and other correspondence.

Although the media seems to have been granted great access to the Court records, it was not until May 26, 2017, the Clerk finally gave Mr. Singletary a copy of the Uniform Traffic Ticket, heavily redacted or "whited out."⁶ A notation on that ticket shows the disposition as "forfeited bond." This is the closest thing to being notified by the Court that Mr. Singletary has ever gotten to receiving "actual notice" in writing of the judgement against him. When he received it, Mr. Singletary filed a timely Motion for New Trial. (15-Motion for New Trial, 5-27-17).

RULE 29 SCRCrimP

Rule 29 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure requires that "in cases involving appeals from convictions in magistrate's or municipal court, post-trial motions shall be made within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment disposing of the appeal. The time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed by a timely post-trial motion and shall run from the receipt of **written** notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion."

The Rule says nothing about receiving notice from media reports, over the telephone, or verbally. Arguably, he has never received the kind of notice Rule 29 requires. Still, he filed his Motion for New Trial within ten days of receiving something--the Uniform Traffic Ticket--in writing from the Clerk of Court.

The Motion for new Trial was not "untimely." The facts here make clear the Municipal Court not only should have heard the Motion; it should have granted it.

TRIAL IN *ABSTENSIA*

⁶ For example, using small white strips of tape designed for "whiting out" documents, the Uniform Traffic Ticket contains eight such alterations or redactions, such that--among other things--the name of the "trial officer" and the "date of trial, if any" have been obscured entirely; five other entries on that ticket have been taped over and amended.

At the South Carolina Judicial Branch's website, www.sccourts.org, one may find the South Carolina Bench Book for Magistrates and Municipal Judges <https://www.sccourts.org/summaryCourtBenchBook/>. In the Section on Criminal Law, under subsection H., the proper procedure to follow in Summary Courts when a defendant fails to appear on the date of trial is described in great detail:

4. Trial in Absentia

As a general rule, the accused has a right to insist that he be present at all stages of the proceedings in a criminal case. But summary cases have always been treated somewhat differently. The accused may elect not to be present in trials before magistrate or municipal courts without the consent of the court. Although it is to be avoided if feasible, an accused may be tried in absentia. The proper course of action if this occurs is for the trial judge, before the start of defendant's trial in absentia, to make findings of fact regarding 1) whether the defendant had received notice of her right to be present, and 2) whether the defendant had been warned that the trial would proceed in his or her absence upon a failure to attend court. *State v. Jackson*, 288 S.C. 94, 341 S.E.2d 375 (1986). See, *City of Aiken v. Koontz*, 368 S.C. 542, 629 S.E.2d 685 (2006), where municipal trial court correctly proceeded with a trial in defendant's absence, after making appropriate factual findings on the issue of whether defendant had notice of trial and whether he was warned the trial would proceed in his absence.

When a defendant who has been properly notified does not appear when the trial is scheduled, the magistrate or municipal judge should call his name, or direct that the constable call his name, three times from the courthouse door. After waiting a reasonable time, the magistrate or municipal judge may proceed.

A trial in absentia, as a procedural matter, is only slightly different from a trial at which the defendant appears. The complaining citizen or law enforcement officer is placed under oath and allowed to present his evidence. Other witnesses, if any, are permitted to testify under oath. Additionally, the constable is summoned to testify that he called the defendant's name from the courthouse door and that there was no response. In those cases where the magistrate or municipal judge himself called the defendant's name, he lets the record show that the defendant's name was called and that he did not respond.

When the evidence is complete, the magistrate or municipal judge makes his findings. If the defendant is acquitted, the

proceedings are terminated. If the defendant is found guilty, the magistrate or municipal judge imposes sentence, according to the penalty allowed for the offense by law. He may use the testimony presented, and any other facts at his disposal, in determining the sentence to be imposed. If the sentence is a fine, the judge may (but does not have to) apply the forfeited bond to the sentence; if the sentence is a jail term, a bench warrant is issued for the arrest of the defendant.

Although a trial in absentia is more complicated and more time-consuming than a simple declaration that the defendant's bond is forfeited for failure to appear, it is preferred to a forfeiture because the trial in absentia is a final determination of the matter. Where there is a forfeiture of bond and nothing more, demand by the defendant may entitle him to a trial at a later date. However, the South Carolina Supreme Court has held that a bond forfeiture is equivalent to a conviction when the Legislature has defined it as a conviction by statute. Scott v. State, 334 S.C. 248, 513 S.E.2d 100 (1999). Therefore, if a statute provides that forfeiture of bond is the equivalent of a conviction, and absent a timely motion for new trial or filing of appeal, the forfeiture would preclude a trial at a later date. As an example, §56-5-6220 provides the entry of any plea of guilty, the forfeiture of any bail posted or the entry of a plea of nolo contendere for a violation of traffic laws in this State or any political subdivision thereof shall have the same effect as a conviction after trial under the provisions of such traffic laws. However, in any such case effective until ten days following the date of arrest, unless the defendant above, a forfeiture of bond for a traffic offense would constitute a conviction.

Benchbook, Criminal Section, Trials, H. 4. (Emphasis added.) There is simply no record the Municipal Court followed these directives, and the only reasonable conclusion to be drawn is that the Court did not. Mr. Singletary should be granted a new trial, or--more precisely, he should be granted *a* trial.

CRIMINAL PROCEDURE RULES 37 AND 16

Rule 37 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure makes clear that those rules apply in municipal courts. Thus, Rule 16 SCRCrimP applies in municipal court. It requires that before, "a person...may voluntarily waive his right to be present and may be tried in his

absence,” the Municipal Court must make “a finding by the court that such person has received notice of his right to be present and that a warning was given that the trial would proceed in his absence upon a failure to attend court.” State v. Truesdale, 345 S.C. 542, 548 S.E.2d 896 (2001). Rule 16, SCRCrimP. “A trial judge must determine a defendant voluntarily waived his right to be present at trial in order to try the case in absentia.” Id.; State v. Ritch, 292 S.C. 75, 354 S.E. 2d 909 (1987); State v. Jackson, 288 S.C. 94, 341 S.E.2d 375 (1986); State v. Castineira, 341 S.C. 619, 535 S.E.2d 449 (Ct.App.2000). “The judge must make findings of fact on the record that the defendant (1) received notice of his right to be present; and (2) was warned that the trial would proceed in his absence should he fail to attend.” Jackson, 288 S.C. at 96, 341 S.E.2d at 375; Castineira, 341 S.C. at 623, 535 S.E.2d at 451.

The Municipal Court has provided no evidence whatsoever that it made findings of fact as to Mr. Singletary’s receiving notice of his right to be present, a warning the trial would proceed in his absence, and indeed no finding he even received notice of his trial.

Correspondence from the Municipal Court leaves little room for doubt that the court made no record or inquiry as to whether Mr. Singletary had been given notice of the trial date or whether he had been notified the trial would proceed in his absence if he chose not to appear. In an e-mail dated May 26, 2017, the Chief Magistrate wrote Mr. Singletary:

In response to your email, I have no recollection of any documents related to the matter referenced in the body of your email below.

In addition, as a municipal judge, I do not maintain or keep any documents that could be reviewed related to the allegations that you are referencing in your email below.

I hope this response provides some clarification related to your requests.

Sincerely,

Samuel Coleman

(14-E-mail from Judge Coleman, 5-26-17).

THE HEARING IN THE CIRCUIT COURT

The Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County heard the appeal and conducted a hearing on November 13, 2017. During the hearing, Judge Nicholson stated, although nothing in the record supports the statement, “[Appellant] knew that [his trial in Municipal Court] was continued to a certain date. I’m sure the judge continued it to a certain date at that time [referring to the initial appearance when Mr. Singletary was present].” (7-Transcript, p. 6, lines 4-6, 11-13-17).⁷ Later, the Judge stated, “and it’s not the court’s responsibility, it’s [Appellant’s] responsibility to keep up with the case.” *Id.* at lines 9-10.) (Emphasis added.) Judge Nicholson also commented during the hearing: “You don’t think [Appellant] was obligated to go try the-- hey, this is 2010. He appeared before the judge in 2010. Judge, I’m sure told him, we’re going to try it. ... So, it’s not like he didn’t have notice.” (*Id.* at p. 7, lines 13-18). There was no basis in the record for Judge Nicholson to arrive at such a conclusion. The findings are clearly erroneous. State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 135, 731 S.E.2d 604, 609 (Ct.App.2012). These findings are unsupported by any evidence. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). This warrants reversal.

The Court also stated during the hearing, “[w]ell, Rule 5 does not--is not binding on municipal courts.” (*Id.* at p. 19, lines 4-5).

Judge Nicholson’s rational or reasoning regarding his ruling is difficult to determine. Other than a Form 4 “Judgement in a Civil Case, filed December 14, 2017, there is no written Order. However, the transcript of the November 13, 2017 hearing shows that when the Honorable J. C. Nicholson denied the appeal, he stated:

“I’m going to deny the appeal. I think the defendant apparently is knowledgeable of the criminal justice system somewhat in that he

wrote a letter and asked for Rule 5. I don’t think it was his obligation, and to appear, and he thought was the case, not wait five years later or even seven years later and try to appeal, because of the time frame and failure to comply with the Rule 5 notice of appeal within 10 days, the appeal is denied.

7-Transcript, p. 22, lines 14-21, 11-13-17.

⁷ Candor requires inclusion of Mr. Singletary’s former attorney’s statement to the Court. He erroneously replied: “He did, Judge. I believe it was a date in March or April.” (7-Transcript, p.6, lines 7-8, 11-13-17). No records support the proposition that the Court continued the case to a date certain show the case was Former counsel apparently was unprepared (and is currently under suspension for reasons unknown to current counsel for the Appellant).

ERRONEOUS INFORMATION PRESENTED AT THE HEARING

Counsel for the City of North Charleston apparently made some presumably honest misstatements that Judge Nicholson may have relied upon, when his rationale for denying the appeal is taken into account. (The City's poorly kept records make this quite understandable.) For example, during the hearing, asked about notice to Mr. Singletary, counsel for the City answered, "he was given a new date of March 9th, and...was notified by telephone of the new court date and time. And then on April 14th he was also notified of a continuance to the 19th of April, and then on April 19th of 2010, he was a no show for court⁸. They continued it, and held court on May 4th." *But see*, Municipal Court Case History reflecting "4-12-10 at 1:00 pm Notified by Burgess." The next entry shows, "4-14-10 1:00 pm Court Event: Court date," with no entry as to whether Mr. Singletary was present or not. Then, a notation: "4-19-10 1:00 pm ... NO SHOW FOR PRIOR COURT." Oddly, all but one of these "records" show the relevant events as occurring at 1:00 pm. Most notably, there is no indication Mr. Singletary was ever notified he was rescheduled to be in court on May 4, 2010, but it is on that date he was "Tried in Absence (Bail Forfeited). (6-Case History, 10-13-15).

Judge Nicholson asked "[h]ow was [Mr. Singletary] notified for May 4th?" (7-Transcript, p. 12, 11-13-17). In reply, however, again perhaps through inadvertence and perhaps because the records are so confusing, counsel for Respondent erroneously stated written notice had been sent to Mr. Singletary. Despite the written Case History, she said, "the "Clerk's office says that they sent a written notification of the trial date, that they no longer have a copy of it because it's not something we're required to...[interrupted by objection]." *See*, 7-Transcript, p. 12, line 14, 11-13-17. In any event, not only is there no documentation of this assertion, it amounts to unsworn hearsay testimony given by opposing counsel as to facts appearing nowhere else in the record, and contradicted by the Case History. Nowhere in the record does there appear proof of this contention that the Court sent written notice to Mr. Singletary as to when his

⁸ *But see*, Municipal Court Case History reflecting "4-12-10 at 1:00 pm Notified by Burgess." Then, the next entry shows, "4-14-10 1:00 pm Court Event: Court date," with no entry as to whether Mr. Singletary was present or not. Then, a notation: "4-19-10 1:00 pm ... NO SHOW FOR PRIOR COURT." Oddly, all but one of these "records" show the relevant events as occurring at 1:00 pm. Most notably, there is no indication Mr. Singletary was ever notified he was rescheduled to be in court on May 4, 2010, but it is on that date he was "Tried in Absence (Bail Forfeited). (6-Case History, 10-13-15).

trial would be heard. (*See*, 15-NCMC Preliminary Docket, 5-4-10) (*See also*, 7-Transcript, p.15, line 15-p. 16, line 1, 11-13-17).

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