THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Trial Court Case No. 2017-CP-10-03226

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-002621

---

**RECEIVED**  
SEP 26 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

John Gilbert Singletary, .....Appellant,

v.

The State, .....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Robin L. Jackson  
Senn Legal, LLC  
Post Office Box 12279  
Charleston, South Carolina 29422  
(843) 556-4045  
Attorney for Respondent

**

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

### ARGUMENT

Although Appellant Singletary argues six (6) sub-bases within his issue on appeal, there is only one issue that is properly preserved for this court to consider—whether Singletary timely filed his Motion for a New Trial in the Municipal Court. The only outcome under the law is that he did not.

**I. THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO DECIDE THE ISSUES PRESENTED BY APPELLANT BECAUSE THE MUNICIPAL COURT ACKNOWLEDGED THAT IT LACKED JURISDICTION AND DECLINED TO RULE ON THE ORIGINAL MOTION AS THE APPELLANT HAD PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE ABOUT THE 2010 CONVICTION IN 2015 BUT DID NOT FILE A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL IN THE MUNICIPAL COURT UNTIL 2017 AND THEREFORE IT WAS NOT TIMELY.**

**A. This Court Does Not Have Jurisdiction to Decide the Issues Presented by Appellant for Appeal.**

“The appellate court must always take notice of the lack of subject matter jurisdiction.” *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Godwin*, 370 S.C. 221, 634 S.E.2d 59, 60-61 (Ct. App. 2006); *Amisub of S.C., Inc. v. Passmore*, 316 S.C. 112, 114, 447 S.E.2d 207, 208 (1994). The lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time, can be raised for the first time on appeal, and can be raised *sua sponte* by the court. *See, e.g., Lake v. Reeder Constr. Co.*, 330 S.C. 242, 248, 498 S.E.2d 650, 653 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding issues related to subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time). “The acts of a court with respect to a matter as to which it has no jurisdiction are void.” *State v. Guthrie*, 352 S.C. 103, 107, 572 S.E.2d 309, 311–12 (Ct. App. 2002).

Furthermore, the Supreme Court has made clear that “a party’s time to appeal from a judgment in a magistrate’s court or move for a new trial therein ... begin[s] [when] he has notice of the judgment.” *Ishmell v. South Carolina Highway Dep’t*, 264 S.C. 340, 215 S.E.2d 201 (1975)

(ruling that the time limit for making a new trial motion begins to run when the defendant received actual notice the conviction) *emphasis added* (citing *Brewer v. South Carolina State Highway Dep't*, 261 S.C. 52, 56, 198 S.E.2d 256, 257 (1973)). A party who fails to timely appeal or take any other timely action necessary to correct an error is procedurally barred from contesting the validity of the conviction. *State v. Martin*, 352 S.C. 32, 33, 572 S.E.2d 287, 288 (2002).

Singletary filed his appeal to the Court of Common Pleas asserting that the Municipal Judge had denied his motion for a new trial. In reality, Judge Coleman did not deny the motion, he advised both Singletary and his attorney that the motion was received “approximately 2582 days after the trial date.” (R. 45). Therefore, he determined that he was “without jurisdiction in the case” and would not issue any ruling. (R. 45) The appeal filed clearly stated it was an appeal of the “denial” of the motion for a new trial. Importantly, it was also not an appeal of the underlying conviction. Without an Order, the only question before the Circuit Court was whether the underlying motion to reopen or for a new trial was timely filed.

To the extent that it was even proper to appeal the municipal court’s determination that it lacked jurisdiction to consider the motion for a new trial, it was clearly improper for the appellant to argue the merits of his motion for new trial to the Circuit Court. Singletary argued his appeal as if the municipal court had considered and denied the motion on its merits, when in fact no such order was issued. The proper issue on appeal to the Circuit Court was whether the motion was timely filed and if so, to ask that the municipal judge be directed to issue an order on the merits of the motion, not to ask the Circuit Court to rule on the merits of the motion. The Circuit Court should have restricted itself to considering whether or not the municipal court should or should not have ruled on the motion for new trial. The only true issue in this case is whether the Municipal Court had jurisdiction to consider a motion for new trial filed 2582 days after conviction and 597

days after the last possible date for actual notice of the conviction. If so, the case should be remanded to the Municipal Court for consideration. However, it is clear that Judge Coleman was correct that he did not have jurisdiction to consider the motion and the denial of this appeal should be upheld.

**B. The Appellant had Personal Knowledge about the Conviction in 2015 and therefore his Motion for a New Trial was not Timely.**

“Generally, a trial judge is without authority to consider a criminal matter once the term of court during which judgment was entered expires.” *State v. Warren*, 392 S.C. 235, 238, 708 S.E.2d 234, 235 (Ct. App. 2011). However, there is an exception for timely post-trial motions pursuant to Rule 29, SCRCrimP. Rule 29 states that the court’s jurisdiction to hear the motion will not expire with the term of court if the party has filed a timely motion. *State v. Campbell*, 376 S.C. 212, 215–16, 656 S.E.2d 371, 373 (2008). The court does not retain authority to entertain a motion which is not made within ten days of sentencing. *Id.* at 216, 656 S.E.2d at 373.

Further, Rule 29, SCRCrimP, provides that “post-trial motions shall be made within ten (10) days after the imposition of the sentence.” Appellant misstates the rule by claiming that written notice is required. Rule 29 requires written notice of entry of the order of judgment “disposing of the appeal.” It relates only to the appeal of a municipal court conviction, not the Municipal Court action itself. On May 31, 2017, more than 2582 days after conviction and 597 days after the latest possible date he had actual notice of the conviction, Singletary filed his Motion for a New Trial, citing Rule 29. (R. 68).

Because Singletary failed to appear for court and was tried in his absence, he has claimed that he did not know about the conviction until October 2015, when various media outlets contacted him after seeing the conviction on his state-issued criminal history report. Now that he understands that knowledge in 2015 is fatal to his appeal, he asserts for the first time, that the

actual notice he had in 2015 is not sufficient, solely because of its sources.<sup>3</sup> Singletary has acknowledged that *Brewer v. S.C. State Highway Dep't*, 261 S.C. 52, 198 S.E.2d 256 (1973) supports the ten (10) day notice requirement. In *Brewer*, neither the defendant nor his attorney knew Brewer had been tried in absence until the day they received a notice that Brewer's driver's license had been suspended. The very next day Mr. Brewer filed a motion with the court for a new trial. The Court granted Mr. Brewer's motion. The *Brewer* case highlights two very important problems for Singletary's argument. First, unlike Singletary, in *Brewer* the defendant did not ignore actual notice of the conviction and wait to receive an actual ticket or docket entry from the court. Brewer filed a motion immediately after learning of the conviction from the Highway Department, an entity totally separate from the court where the conviction occurred. Thus, *Brewer* supports the idea that notice from any source starts the clock. *See also O'Rourke v. Atlantic Paint Co.*, 91 S.C. 399, 74 S.E. 930, 932 (1912) (finding time within which to file motion for new trial begins upon defendant's personal notice of the judgment). Second, Brewer acted promptly. Brewer filed his motion for a new trial the day after learning of the Trial in Absence conviction. In contrast, it is undeniable that Appellant knew of his conviction at least 18 months prior to filing a Motion for New Trial. (R. 39 at 1 ("Mr. Singletary learned only in 2015 that the City of North Charleston was claiming that he had been convicted of this offense."); *see also* R. 31-2).

Further, the Supreme Court ruled in *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004) that the filing windows are to be rigidly applied. The Court concluded:

The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, *i.e.*, if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks

---

<sup>3</sup> Singletary claims in his brief that the "media" is not a sufficient source of notice. He does not claim that the SLED report provided to him by the media, or the Court Case History that contains information on the conviction are not adequate sources of notice.

jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.

South Carolina courts are equally strict in enforcing the ten (10) day rule of Rule 29, SCRCrimP on both sides of the case. In *State v. Martin*, 352 S.C. 32, 33, 572 S.E.2d 287, 288 (2002), Martin was marked down as convicted *in absentia* in August 1997 "[b]ecause of a series of administrative errors" by the state. The State received actual notice of the errant conviction in December 1997. The State took no action until June 1998 to seek an order to reopen the case so that the State could charge Martin with a greater offense. The circuit court ruled that the State's motion was untimely. The Supreme Court agreed finding that Rule 29, SCRCrimP, barred the motion as untimely because the State had actual notice of the errant conviction in December 1997 and did not file a motion to reopen the case until June 1998. The *Martin* court reiterated the rule in *Brewer*, that "a party's time to appeal from a judgment in a magistrate's court or move for a new trial therein ... begin[s] [when] he has notice of the judgment." *Martin*, 352 S.C. at 34, 572 S.E.2d at 288 (quoting *Brewer*, 261 S.C. at 56, 198 S.E.2d at 257).

The *Martin* case yielded no relief despite the errors having been made by multiple persons within the court after the defendant was specifically met with and told not to appear. *State v. Martin*, 341 S.C. 480, 482, 534 S.E. 2d 292 (Ct. App. 2000). In *Martin* the State admitted that the conviction was the result of a ticket being "signed off in error." The State does not assert that Mr. Singletary's conviction was a mistake. In *Martin* it was the State, not the defendant, who missed the filing window. Here, Mr. Singletary has only himself to blame for the slow filing. Given the Supreme Court's refusal to grant relief in *Martin*, there appears no possible way that Appellant Singletary can get relief in this case.

The Court of Appeals' decision in *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Godwin*, 370 S.C. 221,

634 S.E.2d 59 (Ct. App. 2006), is directly on point. There, Mr. Godwin was arrested for CDV in July 1995 and was convicted *in absentia* in August 1995. Godwin was arrested on a bench warrant for that charge on September 29, 1995; he paid the fine and was released the same day. Years later in August 2003, Godwin applied for a gun permit where a SLED check revealed the 1995 CDV conviction on his record. Then, in March 2004, Godwin sent a letter to the municipal court which the court treated as a motion to set aside the CDV conviction and/or a motion for new trial. The municipal court denied Godwin's motion as untimely filed. Godwin appealed to the Circuit Court who granted a new trial based on "substantial justice." The Town of Hilton Head appealed the decision to grant a new trial to the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals vacated the order of the circuit court finding that Godwin's Rule 29, SCRCrimP, 10-day window to appeal from the judgment of the municipal court began when he had notice of the judgment. The Court found that Godwin had notice of his conviction no later than September 29, 1995, when he was arrested on the bench warrant and his release was secured by payment of the fine. The Court found he had until October 9, 1995, to file any post-trial motions or his notice of appeal. The Court went even further, and analyzed the case by considering the argument that Godwin did not receive notice of the conviction until August 2003 when the SLED background check revealed the conviction (notice by an independent outside agency). If that were the case, the Court opined, then Godwin still took no action until March 2004, some seven months later, to remedy the situation.